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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
EASTERN DISTRICT OF MICHIGAN

SOUTHERN DIVISION

ROBERT E. TUCKER,

Plaintiff,
v. Case No.

Hon.
CITY OF DETROIT, a Michigan municipal
corporation, DEVONTE BROOKS, ANDREW
ZYNDA, C.D. THOMAS, CORIZON
HEALTH, INC., a Delaware corporation,
WAYNE COUNTY, a municipal corporation,
JOHN DOE, and ROBERT ROW, Jointly and
Severally,

Defendants.
______________________________________/

COMPLAINT AND DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL

NOW COMES Plaintiff, Robert E. Tucker, by and through his counsel, Mark W. Hafeli,

and for his Complaint states as follows:

1. Plaintiff, Robert E. Tucker is a resident of the City of Detroit, in Wayne County,

Michigan.

2. The Plaintiff, Robert E. Tucker, brings suit against each and every individual

Defendant in both their individual and official capacities.

3. Defendant, City of Detroit, is a Michigan municipal corporation, located in

Wayne County, Michigan which owns and operates a police agency, the City of Detroit Police

Department, which acts under the color of state law.

4. Devonte Brooks, is a Detroit police officer working and residing in the Eastern

District of Michigan.

5. Defendant, Andrew Zynda, is a Detroit police officer working and residing in the

Eastern District of Michigan.
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6. Defendant, C.D. Thomas, is a Detroit police officer working and residing in the

Eastern District of Michigan.

7. Defendant, Corizon Health, Inc., is a Delaware Corporation, sometimes doing

business as Corizon of Michigan, operating and doing business in the City of Detroit, Michigan.

8. Defendant, Wayne County, is a municipal corporation located in the Eastern

District of Michigan.

9. Defendant, John Doe, whose real name is unknown at this time, is a resident of

the Eastern District of Michigan and at all times material hereto was working in the City of

Detroit, Wayne County, Michigan.

10. Defendant, Robert Row, whose real name is unknown at this time, is a resident of

the Eastern District of Michigan and at all times material hereto was working in the City of

Detroit, Wayne County, Michigan.

11. The jurisdiction of this Court is invoked pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1331 and §1343.

12. Venue lies properly in this district pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1391(b).

13. At all times material hereto Defendants, Devonte Brooks (“Officer Brooks”),

Andrew Zynda (“Officer Zynda”) and Defendant, Detective C.D. Thomas (“Detective Thomas”),

were employees of the City of Detroit and were acting in the course of their employment and

under the color of state law as uniformed police officers.

14. On August 31, 2017, at approximately 11:00 a.m. in the City of Detroit, Plaintiff,

Robert E. Tucker (“Mr. Tucker”) was arrested by Defendants Officer Brooks and Officer Zynda.

15. In the course of arresting Mr. Tucker, Defendants Officer Brooks and Officer

Zynda, broke Mr. Tucker’s arm in three places.

16. Defendants Officer Brooks and Officer Zynda then handcuffed Mr. Tucker and

put him in their squad car.
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17. Mr. Tucker was charged with domestic violence and assault and battery.

18. Mr. Tucker repeatedly told Officer Brooks and Officer Zynda that they had

broken his arm during the arrest, and he asked for medical attention.

19. Defendants Officer Brooks and Officer Zynda refused Mr. Tucker’s request for

medical attention and they drove him to the Detroit Detention Center where Mr. Tucker was

incarcerated.

20. Mr. Tucker’s arm was swollen and bruised as a result of the fractures and it was

obvious to the Defendants that he had suffered a fractured arm.

21. The Detroit Detention Center is owned by the Michigan Department of

Corrections.

22. While at the Detroit Detention Center Mr. Tucker was interviewed by Detective

Thomas.

23. During Detective Thomas’s interview of Mr. Tucker, Mr. Tucker repeatedly told

Detective Thomas that his arm was broken and he needed medical attention.

24. Detective Thomas refused Mr. Tucker’s request for medical attention and

following the interview, he returned Mr. Tucker to his cell at the Detroit Detention Center.

25. While imprisoned at the Detroit Detention Center, Mr. Tucker told Defendant,

John Doe, and anyone else who would listen to him, that his arm was broken and he needed

medical attention.

26. John Doe and everyone else refused to get Mr. Tucker medical attention for his

broken arm.

27. Defendant, Corizon Health, Inc., (“Corizon”) has a contract with the Michigan

Department of Corrections which provides that Corizon will handle all medical health concerns

of prisoners for the Michigan Department of Corrections, including the Detroit Detention Center.

Case 2:19-cv-12996-MAG-APP   ECF No. 1   filed 10/11/19    PageID.3    Page 3 of 12



4

28. Eventually, Mr. Tucker was transferred to the William Dickerson Detention

Facility which is owned and operated by Wayne County.

29. While imprisoned at the William Dickerson Detention Facility, the Plaintiff told

Robert Row that his arm was broken and he needed medical attention.

30. Robert Row and the other officers at the William Dickerson Detention Facility

refused Mr. Tucker’s request for medical attention until finally a nurse examined him and had

him sent to Detroit Receiving Hospital where it was discovered that Mr. Tucker’s arm was

broken in three places.

31. On September 2, 2017 in the afternoon, Mr. Tucker’s arm was casted and he was

returned to the William Dickerson Detention Facility.

32. Eventually, all charges against Mr. Tucker were dropped.

33. As a result of the Defendants’ refusal to obtain medical treatment for Mr. Tucker,

he suffered the following damages:

a. Conscious pain and suffering.
b. Emotional trauma and suffering.
c. Fright and shock.
d. Deprivation of his civil rights.

Count I.
§1983 Violation –Denial of Medical Treatment – Eighth Amendment Violation –

Individual Defendants

34. Plaintiff incorporates all of the allegations contained in this Complaint into Count

I.

35. After Mr. Tucker’s arrest and during his incarceration, he asked the individual

Defendants for medical treatment for his broken arm.

36. The individual Defendants all refused to obtain medical treatment for Mr.

Tucker’s broken arm which was broken in three places.
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37. The individual Defendants’ refusal to obtain medical treatment for Mr. Tucker’s

broken arm amounted to cruel and unusual punishment which is prohibited by the Eighth

Amendment to the Constitution of the United States.

38. The individual Defendants’ refusal to obtain medical treatment for Mr. Tucker’s

broken arm violated Mr. Tucker’s civil rights pursuant to 42 U.S.C. §1983.

39. The individual Defendants were deliberately indifferent to Mr. Tucker’s need for

medical care and to his rights under the Constitution and 42 U.S.C. §1983.

40. As a result of the individual Defendants’ violation of Mr. Tucker’s Constitutional

rights, Mr. Tucker suffered the following damages:

a. Conscious pain and suffering.
b. Emotional trauma and suffering.
c. Fright and shock.
d. Deprivation of his civil rights.
e. Punitive damages.
f. Reasonable attorney fees and costs.

41. Under 42 U.S.C. §1983, Mr. Tucker is entitled to damages, punitive damages,

costs, interest and actual attorney fees pursuant to 42 U.S.C. §1988.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, Robert E. Tucker, respectfully requests that this Honorable

Court enter a Judgment in favor of the Plaintiff against the individual Defendants, Jointly and

Severally, in whatever amount Plaintiff is entitled, along with punitive damages, costs, interest

and attorney fees pursuant to 42 U.S.C. §1988.

Count II.
§1983 Violation – City of Detroit.

42. Plaintiff incorporates all of the allegations contained in this Complaint into Count

II.
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43. The City of Detroit has exhibited a deliberate indifference to Mr. Tucker’s

constitutionally protected right to be free from cruel and unusual punishment under the Eighth

Amendment.

44. The City of Detroit’s deliberate indifference is demonstrated by the following

conduct:

a. The City of Detroit has failed to properly train its officers as to how to respond to
a prisoner’s request for medical treatment.

b. The City of Detroit has failed to properly supervise its officers as to how to
respond to a prisoner’s request for medical treatment.

45. The systematic failure to train and supervise police officers in the proper way to

respond to a prisoner’s request for medical treatment while incarcerated has turned into a policy

or custom which was the moving force behind the denial of Mr. Tucker’s request for medical

treatment of his broken arm.

46. As a result of the Defendant, City of Detroit’s deliberate indifference to Mr.

Tucker’s civil rights and its policy and custom that led to the deprivation of those rights, Mr.

Tucker has suffered damages set forth as follows:

a. Conscious pain and suffering.
b. Emotional trauma and suffering.
c. Fright and shock.
d. Deprivation of his civil rights.
e. Punitive damages.
f. Reasonable attorney fees and costs.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, Robert E. Tucker, respectfully requests that this Honorable

Court enter a Judgment in favor of the Plaintiff against Defendant, The City of Detroit, in

whatever amount Plaintiff is entitled, along with punitive damages, costs, interest and attorney

fees pursuant to 42 U.S.C. §1988.
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Count III
Corizon – Violation of 1983 and Eighth Amendment Violation

47. Plaintiff incorporates all of the allegations contained in this Complaint into Count

III.

48. Defendant, Corizon, contracted to provide medical treatment to prisoners held at

the Detroit Detention Center, which included Mr. Tucker.

49. Corizon failed in its duties to adequately train nurses, guards, police officers,

physician assistants, treatment administrators, and grievance investigators and historically have

had a policy, custom, and practice of failing to implement an adequate training program to

properly train such personnel.

50. Corizon adopted, ratified and/or implemented the policies, practices and

procedures which denied Mr. Tucker medical treatment within a reasonable period of time and

did so with deliberate indifference to Mr. Tucker’s serious medical needs thereby violating Mr.

Tucker’s Constitutional rights.

51. The acts and omissions of Corizon taken pursuant to the de facto policies,

practices and procedures, adopted, ratified and/or implemented by Corizon impermissibly

condoned and allowed for the denial of proper medical care and treatment to inmates at the

Detroit Detention Center, such as Mr. Tucker, which amounts to deliberate indifference in the

denial of such detainee’s civil rights as are guaranteed by the Constitution of the United States.

52. The aforesaid acts and omissions of Corizon were all committed under color of

law and under color of their authority as Corizon employees providing the traditional state

function of medical care to inmates at the Detroit Detention Center.

53. The acts and omissions of Corizon constituted deliberate indifference to the

serious and apparent medical needs of Mr. Tucker in violation of the Eighth and Fourteenth
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Amendments to the Constitution of the United States and, hence, are actionable under 42 U.S.C.

§1983.

54. Despite Corizon’s knowledge of the said illegal policies, practices and

procedures, Corizon:

a. Failed to take appropriate and necessary steps to discover and determine that said
policies, practices and procedures had and would continue to result in damages to Mr.
Tucker and those similarly situated; specifically, Corison failed to have a policy of
assessing serious medical need for inmates with painful and debilitating serious injuries.

b. Failed to discipline and properly supervise the individual officers, deputies, and
employees who engaged in the said acts pursuant to these policies, practices and
procedures which resulted in Mr. Tucker’s injury;

c. Failed to effectively train and supervise the said individual Defendants with
regard to the proper constitutional and statutory limits of their authority;

d. Ratified said policies, practices and procedures which caused Mr. Tucker’s injury
through their deliberate indifference to the effect of said policies, practices and
procedures on the constitutional rights of citizens such as Mr. Tucker.

e. Failed to formulate or adopt appropriate policies, practices and procedures to
instruct and train employees in the implementation of such policies and procedures to
protect inmates similarly situated to Mr. Tucker.

55. As a result of Corizon’s acts and omissions, Mr. Tucker has suffered damages

which include but are not limited to the following:

a. Great pain.
b. Mental anguish
c. Emotional distress.
d. Restrictions on daily basic functioning.
e. Employment opportunities.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, Robert E. Tucker, respectfully requests that this Honorable

Court enter a Judgment in favor of the Plaintiff against Defendant, Corizon Health, Inc. in

whatever amount Plaintiff is entitled, along with costs, interest, exemplary damages, punitive

damages, and attorney fees.
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Count IV
1983 Violation – Wayne County – Cruel and Unusual Punishment

56. Plaintiff incorporates all of the allegations contained in this Complaint into Count

IV.

57. At all times material hereto, Defendant, Wayne County, owned and operated the

William Dickerson Detention Facility.

58. Mr. Tucker was held as a prisoner in the William Dickerson Detention Facility.

59. Wayne County has exhibited a deliberate indifference to Mr. Tucker’s

constitutionally protected right to be free from cruel and unusual punishment under the Eighth

Amendment.

60. Wayne County’s deliberate indifference is demonstrated by the following

conduct:

a. Wayne County failed to properly train its officers as to how to respond to a
prisoner’s request for medical treatment.

b. Wayne County failed to properly supervise its officers as to how to respond to a
prisoner’s request for medical treatment.

61. The systematic failure to train and supervise police officers in the proper way to

respond to a prisoner’s request for medical treatment while incarcerated has turned into a policy

or custom which was the moving force behind the denial of Mr. Tucker’s request for medical

treatment of his broken arm.

62. As a result of the Defendant, Wayne County’s deliberate indifference to Mr.

Tucker’s civil rights and its policy and custom that led to the deprivation of those rights, Mr.

Tucker has suffered damages set forth as follows:

a. Conscious pain and suffering.
b. Emotional trauma and suffering.
c. Fright and shock.
d. Deprivation of his civil rights.
e. Punitive damages.
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f. Reasonable attorney fees and costs.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, Robert E. Tucker, respectfully requests that this Honorable

Court enter a Judgment in favor of the Plaintiff against Defendant, Wayne County, in whatever

amount Plaintiff is entitled, along with punitive damages, costs, interest and attorney fees

pursuant to 42 U.S.C. §1988.

Count V
Gross Negligence, Intentional, Willful, Reckless and Wanton Misconduct on

The Part of All Defendants

63. Plaintiff incorporates all of the allegations contained in this Complaint into Count

V.

64. In placing Mr. Tucker in the custody of the Defendants, Defendants’ owed a duty

to Mr. Tucker to obtain proper and timely medical treatment for Mr. Tucker.

65. Notwithstanding the above duty, Defendants failed to obtain timely and adequate

medical attention for Mr. Tucker, even though he was pleading for medical attention and it was

obvious that he was suffering from a fractured arm.

66. That as a direct proximate result of the breaches of the Defendants described

above, Mr. Tucker’s constitutional rights were violated by directly and proximately causing him

conscious pain and suffering, mental anguish, debilitation, weakness and economic loss, past,

present and future.

67. The actions of Defendants amounted to gross negligence and intentional willful,

reckless and wanton misconduct in denial of Mr. Tucker’s right to medical attention.

68. That the conduct of each of the Defendants exhibited a deliberate indifference by

intentional acts or omissions to Mr. Tucker’s right to medical care.

69. At all relevant times, Defendants, were grossly negligent in one or more of the

following ways:
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a. Failure to discipline, investigate, and/or discharge any officers involved in the
denial of medical care of detainees which ratifies and/or condones any officers’ grossly
negligent conduct;

b. Failure to train to determine the immediate need for medical treatment or attention
and failure to obtain medical attention for a prisoner who was in need of immediate
medical attention;

c. Knowingly and recklessly hiring and training as police officers and detention
officers individuals who were not able to determine medical emergencies that render
them unfit to perform the necessary duties of their position;

d. Failure to render immediate medical attention to a prisoner who was in severe
pain and;

e. Any and all other acts of gross negligence as they become known throughout the
course of this litigation.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, Robert E. Tucker, respectfully requests that this Honorable

Court enter a Judgment in favor of the Plaintiff against Defendants, Jointly and Severally, in

whatever amount Plaintiff is entitled, along with costs, interest, attorney fees, as well as punitive

damages and/or exemplary damages.

Respectfully submitted.

Hafeli Staran & Christ, P.C.

s/Mark W. Hafeli_______
Attorney for Plaintiff, Robert E. Tucker
2055 Orchard Lake Road
Sylvan Lake, MI 48320
(248) 731-3083
mhafeli@hsc-law.com
(P28908)

Dated: October 11, 2019.
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
EASTERN DISTRICT OF MICHIGAN

SOUTHERN DIVISION

ROBERT E. TUCKER,

Plaintiff,
v. Case No.

Hon.
CITY OF DETROIT, a Michigan municipal
corporation, DEVONTE BROOKS, ANDREW
ZYNDA, C.D. THOMAS, CORIZON
HEALTH, INC., a Delaware corporation,
WAYNE COUNTY, a municipal corporation,
JOHN DOE, and ROBERT ROW, Jointly and
Severally,

Defendants.
______________________________________/

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL

NOW COMES Plaintiff, Robert E. Tucker, by and through his attorney, Mark W. Hafeli,

and hereby demands a trial by jury of the above cause of action.

Respectfully submitted.

Hafeli Staran & Christ, P.C.

s/Mark W. Hafeli_______
Attorney for Plaintiff, Robert E. Tucker
2055 Orchard Lake Road
Sylvan Lake, MI 48320
(248) 731-3083
mhafeli@hsc-law.com
(P28908)-

Dated: October 11, 2019.
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